
1

Contact Officer: Maureen Potter
01352 702322 
maureen.potter@flintshire.gov.uk

To: Cllr Carol Ellis (Chair)

Councillors: Adele Davies-Cooke, Andy Dunbobbin, Veronica Gay, David Healey, 
Cindy Hinds, Hilary Isherwood, Brian Lloyd, Mike Lowe, Hilary McGuill, 
Dave Mackie, Mike Reece, Ian Smith, Carolyn Thomas and David Wisinger

30 October 2015

Dear Councillor

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Social & Health Care Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee which will be held at 2.30 pm on Thursday, 5th November, 2015 in the 
Delyn Committee Room, County Hall, Mold CH7 6NA to consider the following items 

Members are asked to note that the meeting will start at 2.30 pm, following a 
Member briefing session on iPads at 2.00 pm.

A G E N D A

1 APOLOGIES 
Purpose: 
To receive any apologies. 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING 
DECLARATIONS) 
Purpose: 
To receive any Declarations and advise Members accordingly. 

3 MINUTES (Pages 3 - 10)
Purpose: 
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the last meeting. 



2

4 CHILDREN SERVICES INSPECTION REPORT (Pages 11 - 52)

Report of Chief Officer (Social Services) 

Purpose: To receive the CSSIW Children Services Inspection report and 
action plan 

5 LEARNING DISABILITY WORK STREAMS - 1) CHANGE OPTIONS FOR 
SUPPORTED LIVING SERVICE AND 2) ALTERNATIVE DELIVERY 
MODELS - DAY SERVICES LEARNING DISABILITIES (Pages 53 - 58)

Report of Chief Officer (Social Services) 

Purpose: To receive a report on alternative delivery models - day 
services. 

6 ROTA VISITS 
Purpose: 
To receive a verbal report from Members of the Committee.

7 FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME (SOCIAL & HEALTH CARE) (Pages 59 - 
66)

Report of Environment and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Facilitator 

Purpose: To consider the Forward Work Programme of the Social & 
Health Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 

Yours faithfully

Peter Evans
Democracy & Governance Manager



SOCIAL AND HEALTH CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
22 SEPTEMBER 2015

Minutes of the meeting of the Social and Health Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee of the Flintshire County Council held in the Delyn Committee 
Room, County Hall, Mold on Tuesday, 22 September 2015

PRESENT: Councillor Carol Ellis (Chair)
Councillors: Andy Dunbobbin, Veronica Gay, David Healey, Cindy Hinds, 
Brian Lloyd, Hilary McGuill, Dave Mackie, Mike Reece, Carolyn Thomas and 
David Wisinger

SUBSTITUTION:  Councillor Peter Curtis (for Ian Smith) 

APOLOGIES:  Councillors: Adele Davies-Cooke and Hilary Isherwood

CONTRIBUTORS: 
Cabinet Member for Social Services, Chief Officer (Social Services), Senior 
Manager: Commissioning and Performance and Resources, Senior Manager 
Resources, Senior Manager Integration Social Services, and Service Manager 
Disability and Progression

IN ATTENDANCE: 
Education and Youth Overview and Scrutiny Facilitator and Committee Officer

26. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillors Andy Dunbobbin and David Mackie declared a personal 
interest in the following agenda items as they were members of the Fostering 
Panel:-

Agenda item 4 – Review of Adoption Services following Implementation

27. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 23 July 2015  
had been circulated to Members with the agenda.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  

28. REVIEW OF ADOPTION SERVICES FOLLOWING IMPLEMENTATION

The Senior Manager Resources introduced a report to inform of the 
Annual Report of the North Wales Adoption Services (NWAS) and National 
Adoption Service (NAS) for 2014/15.  



The Senior Manager Resources provided background information and 
advised that the NAS Annual Report (2014/15) was the first annual report of 
the fully constituted NAS and set out its role, functions, objectives, 
performance and future plans.  He reported that evidence indicated that the 
NAS was seeking to establish a more collaborative approach between the 
Local Authority/Regional services and third sector providers.   The report also 
identified the key requirements of the type of adopter to meet the needs of 
children and the increase in post adoption services recognizing local authority 
fiscal challenges.

Referring to the NWAS Annual Report and Quality of Care Review, the 
Senior Manager Resources advised that the report provided comprehensive 
and detailed analysis, evaluation and recorded activities conducted by the 
NWAS for 2014/15.   He outlined the key considerations in the report and 
advised that the NWAS continued to be overviewed by a Management Board 
of the six Local Authorities and was jointly chaired by the Heads of Service for 
Wrexham and Anglesey with third sector partners co-opted onto the Board.  
As concluded in the report the majority of children are placed into Welsh 
settings and the demand for sibling/baby placements remains a key priority for  
service development.

The Chair thanked the Senior Manager Resources for his overview and 
invited questions.

Councillor Dave Mackie referred to the formatting of the NAS report 
and said that the use of columns to present data created difficulty for ‘ipad’ 
users.      It was agreed that the Senior Manager Resources would take this 
problem forward to the NAS.  

Councillor Mackie expressed concern that whilst the report contained 
significant information obtained from surveys in his view it lacked managerial 
detail around service performance and the achievement of objectives and 
timescales.   The Senior Manager Resources responded to the comments 
and explained that the information required was contained in the report and 
he agreed to extract the data and provide a summary to Councillor Mackie 
following the meeting.   He also said he would look at anonymising the 
management information to send to Councillor Mackie.

Councillor Mackie also commented on the negative feedback which 
some adopters had made about the quality of the service provided by the 
NAS.     The Senior Manager Resources advised that the majority of pre and 
post adopters had not reported any negative feedback on service provision.  
Although unable to comment on case specific issues during the meeting he 
welcomed the opportunity to address any concerns directly in the first 
instance.  

  
Councillor Hilary McGuill expressed the view that there was a lack of 

collaboration between local authorities which slowed down the adoption 
process and cited the example of where a child was placed for adoption in 
one local authority and the adoptive parents were placed in another.  She also 



asked what support was in place for the adoptive parents during the first six 
months following the placement of a child.  Councillor McGuill asked about the 
timescales involved in releasing the responsibility of a child from the birth 
parents to the adoptive parents.   The Senior Manager Resources responded 
to the comments and questions and explained that the release of 
responsibility of the birth parents of a child was made by Court determination.  
He advised that when a child is placed for adoption an Adoption Support Plan 
is put in place to ensure the child and adoptive parents receive the relevant 
support from the Authority and partnership agencies.

In response to the specific concerns which had been raised by 
Councillors Dave Mackie and Hilary McGuill, the Senior Manager Resources 
agreed to speak to both Members following the meeting.

Councillor Peter Curtis commented on the increase in the number of 
children  being placed in adoption, the Senior Manager Resources explained 
that the increase was due in part to raised awareness of the needs of children 
who could no longer live with their birth parents and improvements in service 
delivery.  Councillor Peter Curtis congratulated all involved on their hard work 
and achievements.  The Senior Manager Resources said he would pass this 
back to the relevant authorities.

Councillor Andy Dunbobbin commented on the work of the Fostering 
Panel and said that adoptive parents were encouraged to provide feedback on 
their experience of the adoption process to inform and improve service  was 
encouraged.  Councillor Mackie reiterated the comments expressed by 
Councillor McGuill that some prospective adoptive parents may not wish to 
make a complaint as they felt this could inhibit the adoption process. 

The Chief Officer (Social Services) referred to the significant 
improvement in service delivery which was evidenced within both NAS and 
NWAS reports.  Members were advised that the NAS and the NWAS were 
subject to inspection by the Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales 
(CSSIW) which identified any shortcomings in service delivery. 

RESOLVED:

(a) That the Committee support both the National Adoption Service and 
North Wales Adoption Service Annual Reports; and

(b) That feedback on ensuring that future National Adoption Service 
Annual Reports be formatted to ensure that they were iPad friendly

                  
29. REVIEW OF RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME PROVISION IN FLINTSHIRE 

The Chief Officer (Social Services) provided a verbal update on the 
view of residential care home provision in Flintshire.  He referred to the 
significant challenges facing the sector nationally, regionally and locally, 
around recruitment and retention of qualified and experienced staff,  



complexity of need and palliative/end of life care, support to avoid hospital 
admissions and accelerate hospital discharges, rising care home costs, 
supporting people to be independent and remain in home and community 
settings, and alternative models to current market provision.

The Chief Officer advised that the review would centre on the following 
three critical areas of challenge; demand and supply, quality and cost.  The 
aim of the review was to develop a fuller understanding of the issues facing 
residential care provision and predicted future need.   The Chief Officer said 
that a detailed  report would be presented in due course to enable a fuller 
review of the long-term options to be undertaken to protect and develop care 
market provision for the future.

The Chair commented on  the need to challenge the Welsh 
Government on the level of funding provided for social services in comparison 
to the funding made available to the Health Service.  

Councillor David Wisinger asked if North Wales would be receiving any 
of the new fleet of ambulances.  Following a suggestion from the Chair it was 
agreed that the Education and Youth Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator would 
make enquiries with the Welsh Ambulance Service NHS Trust on behalf of the 
Committee.

Councillor Hilary McGuill asked if representatives from the private 
sector would be invited to sit on the review panel.  The Chief Officer advised 
that the review panel would consist of a small core group and a wider 
consultation process would be undertaken to include the independent sector 
and Health.  

Councillor Andy Dunbobbin said he would like to invite representation 
from the independent sector to a future meeting of the Committee.  In 
response to the concerns raised by Councillor Dunbobbin around the prior 
notification of inspections of care homes, the Chief Officer advised that 
unannounced inspections were undertaken.  The Senior Manager , 
Commissioning, Performance and Resources also advised that visits were 
undertaken on contract monitoring.   

During discussion Members expressed concerns around the closure of 
some local hospitals in Flintshire and commented on the future demands and 
expectations of an increasing older population.

Councillor Cindy Hinds referred to the closure of the community  hospitals in 
Penyffordd/Dobshill and expressed concerns that additional beds were not 
being provided at Wrexham Maelor Hospital as agreed.  The Chair suggested 
that the Education and Youth Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator make enquiries 
on the Committee’s behalf with the Health Board.

In response to the Committee’s request that Members wished to visit 
private sector residential care homes as well as nursing homes, the Chief 
Officer said this would be taken forward through the Care Forum.   



RESOLVED:

That the update be noted.

30. MELROSE CENTRE UPDATE  

The Chief Officer (Social Services) provided a verbal update on the 
transfer of the Melrose day service to new care service providers and the 
closure of the Melrose Day Centre.  He provided background information and 
context and explained that following discussions with service users and 
families, agreement was reached that a cohort of 12 individuals/friends would 
attend the Windmill day service in Buckley and 13 individuals/friends would be 
supported at Marleyfield house day service.  

The Chief Officer reported that the transfer was successfully 
undertaken in July 2015 and a review of the arrangements has been 
undertaken and no issues reported by service users.  The Melrose Centre has 
been made surplus to Social Services requirements and has been given back 
to the Council’s Asset Management Team.  There were no staffing 
redundancies as a result of the closure of the Centre.

RESOLVED:

That the verbal update be noted.

31. QUARTER 1 IMPROVEMENT PLAN MONITORING REPORT  

The Chief Officer (social Services) presented the Quarter 1 
Improvement Plan Monitoring Report for consideration.  The report presented 
the monitoring of progress for the first quarter of 2015/16 focusing on the 
areas of under performance relevant to the Social & Health  Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  Members were advised that detailed sub priority reports 
were appended to the report. 

The Chief Officer advised that performance in the main had been 
positive, however, two high risks had been identified concerning Living Well 
(Safeguarding) and Appropriate and affordable homes.  The Chief Officer 
invited  the Service Manager, Disability and Progression to provide case 
examples which detailed the work involved regarding Disabled Facilities 
Grants for Children. (DFGs) 

Councillor David Wisinger suggested that the Planning Department be 
asked to treat works relating to DFG’s as a priority.  The Chief Officer agreed 
to speak to the Chief Officer (Environment and Planning) on this matter.

The Chair asked for an update on the use of Housing Pods to assist 
with DFG’s.



RESOLVED:  

That the report be noted.

32. ROTA VISITS

The Chair invited Members to report on the Rota visits undertaken 
since the previous meeting.   

Councillor Hilary McGuill reported that she had carried out visits to 
Rowleys Pantry and Estuary Crafts.  She commented on the problems caused 
for service users as a result of a blocked entrance at Rowleys Pantry and the 
time taken to resolve the issue.  She also commented on the concerns raised 
around job security for service users.  

Councillor Dave Mackie reported on his visits to Tri Ffordd, the Old 
Brewery, Freshfields,  and  Gwenffrwd Nursing Home in Holywell.   He gave 
positive feedback on all visits and commented on the excellent facilities and 
services provided by the Gwenffrwd Nursing Home.  

The Chair reported on her visit to AROSFA.  She said the visit had 
been enjoyable and commented on the good relationship between Service 
Users and staff and the range of activities which were provided based on 
service user needs.  She expressed some concern around the limited car 
parking facilities.     

RESOLVED:

That the updates be received.  

33. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  

The Education and Youth Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator introduced the 
forward work programme of the Committee.  

During discussion it was agreed that the Social Service Wellbeing Act 
update report scheduled for 5 November 2015 be deferred to the meeting of 
the Committee to be held on 17 December 2015.   It was also agreed that the 
CSSIW report scheduled for 17 December be brought forward to the meeting 
to be held on 5 November 2015.

In response to a suggestion from Councillor Hilary McGuill that the 
Committee visit private sector residential care homes, the Chief Officer (Social 
Services)  agreed to speak to the Care Forum to see if they could facilitate 
any visits.  It was agreed that an update would be provided to the Committee 
at the next meeting to be held on 5 November 2015.



RESOLVED:
 
That the Forward Work Programme be noted.

34. MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS IN ATTENDANCE

There was one member of the public and one member of the press in 
attendance.

(The meeting started at 10.00 am and ended at 11.50 am)

…………………………
Chair

 
 





 SOCIAL & HEALTH CARE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting Thursday 5th November 2015

Report Subject CSSIW Inspection of Children’s Services in Flintshire

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Social Services

Report Author Chief Officer, Social Services

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report presents the findings of the Care and Social Services Inspectorate 
Wales CSSIW concerning their Inspection of Children’s Services In Flintshire and 
sets out the clear action plan of the council in response to the report. 

The inspection carried out a detailed inspection of services during May and June 
2015, concerning 4 main themes:
Theme 1 Access Arrangements
Theme 2 Assessment 
Theme 3 Safeguarding and Care Management
Theme 4 Leadership and Governance

The report reflects that there are many strengths in the service notably good 
social work practice, strong political and corporate support for children’s services, 
and, timely, well managed and child focussed child protection conferences and 
reviews. The service was also found to have a committed, suitably trained and 
qualified workforce with a strong commitment from senior managers to achieve 
improvements in the support for children and families.

The report reflects areas that the council needs to secure improvements in the 
duty and assessment model for children, our process for initial screening and the 
quality and timeliness of assessment and care plans. Furthermore the council’s 
strategic vision for the service needs to be translated into a strategy that is well 
understood by staff, users and partners.

The report acknowledges that children's services has undergone a period of 
transition in the last year and supports the approach of the new senior team in 
taking forward positive service change. Flintshire’s action plan in direct response 
to the 12 recommendations for improvement is included as Appendix 2.



RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Scrutiny consider and comment on the conclusions of the inspection 
report, the effectiveness of the action plan and the process for monitoring 
as laid out in Appendix 1.2.

REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE INSPECTION REPORT

1.01 Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales undertook an inspection of 
children’s services in Flintshire County Council during May and June, 
2015, looking closely at the experiences of children and young people 
who needed help and protection, The scope of the inspection was wide 
and included investigation of all areas of children’s services. Over 70 
cases were reviewed and a team of 4 Inspectors spent 2 weeks on site 
meeting with staff, managers, service users and partners.

1.02 The report is appended in full in Appendix 2, including an evaluation of the 
council’s own assessment of its own performance and how it was seeking 
to improve the service. In the main the conclusions of the report coincided 
with the councils own evaluation of its strengths and areas for 
improvement, and the suggested Recommendations for change are areas 
that the council is already taking forward. This report summarises a 
number of the main findings.

1.03 The report examined 4 key areas of service or themes as follows:
• Access to Services
• Assessment
• Safeguarding and Care Management;
• Leadership and Governance

1.04 Theme 1 Access to Services

In this theme the report concluded that our early intervention/ prevention 
arrangements were not yet sufficiently impacting on early help. The report 
finds that the Councils’ initial screening and referral managing process is 
in need of improvement and also needed to be more clearly understood 
by partner agencies. The report also concluded that the configuration of 
small teams or ‘pods’ within duty and assessment did not sufficiently 
consider continuity for young people and families.

1.05 The Council was seen to be rightly responsive to situations of risk, but 
needed to increase the consistency of response in other situations.  The 
service has already started to reconfigure the front door of the service and, 
as is recognised in the report, our action plan is already well underway in 
restructuring the service. This includes a complete review of the front door 
duty and assessment team, moving away from the pod system to a 
structure that responds supportively to the needs of families and 
maximises continuity of social worker.



1.06 Theme 2 Assessment

A clear and important conclusion of the inspection is that they found good 
sound social work practice in our services. However the inspection team 
believed that the design and structure of the assessment process needed 
to improve to support this approach. In particular the report found that a 
duplication in assessment process needs to be stopped and the overall 
quality and timeliness of assessments and care plans needs to be 
improved to a consistent standard.

1.07 Again assessments carried out by Social Workers often truly reflected and 
articulated children’s, wishes and feelings but this needed to be further 
translated into plans which were fully child focussed.

1.08 Theme 3 Safeguarding and Care Management

The inspection found that the councils approach to child protection 
conferences was timely well managed and child focussed. Furthermore 
looked after children reviews were well managed with Independent 
Reviewing Officers (IRO’s) having the skills and experience to provide a 
good quality service. Social workers’ could effectively articulate children’s 
needs and their actions required for reducing risk and achieving desired 
outcomes, the Public Law Outline approach was a real strength.

1.09 There were, however, areas of improvement needing to be made to risk 
assessment, reducing changes of social worker and increasing 
consistency of care plans.

1.10 Theme 4 Leadership and Governance

The findings identified that Senior Leaders and Officers saw safeguarding 
as a priority for the council and were committed to developing and 
improving the service. Another welcome finding was a real positive 
reflection on our frontline workers and their managers, with a suitably 
qualified, experienced and committed workforce found to be in place.  
Flintshire has a good reputation as a positive place to work, where staff 
were valued and enjoyed working in an authority that promoted a good 
work life balance.  Social worker recruitment and retention was highlighted 
as a clear strength.

1.11 However, the report found that the strategic direction for children’s 
services needed to be translated into a strategy for the delivery that is 
effectively communicated to all stakeholders and that performance and 
quality assurance information needs to be further strengthened.

1.12 Based on the conclusions of the report, twelve Recommendations for 
required change in the service were made for which the Council has 
prepared a robust action plan appended as Appendix 2. Certainly a 
number of the recommendations recognise that the Council have already 
identified the area concerned as requiring support and have started to 
make progress in response to this key issue.



1.13 It is important that the governance for the oversight of the action plan in 
response to this report is taken forward at the most senior level in the 
Council, with full political and corporate oversight of the further 
improvements to be made in children’s services. Therefore it is proposed 
that a full report on progress with the action plan is made in 3/4 months’ 
time, and again 6 months later in the summer of 2016.Ongoing oversight 
of the action progress will be made by the Social Services Programme 
Board, one of the key Boards set up by the Council to oversee portfolio 
business plans.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 The action plan in response to the report will require considerable capacity 
from staff and managers at all levels, and there will be a resource 
implication. However this is already accounted for in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 No specific consultations required in this report. There will be extensive 
consultation with service users, staff, trade unions, partners, as a result of 
the taking forward of the action plan in response to the report. 

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 The proper exercise of safeguarding functions is one of the most important 
functions of the council. Therefore it is very important that the effective 
development of children’s services is supported, which is achieved by the 
action plan in response to this report. As the report says the oversight of 
this action plan will be taken  forward by Modernising Social Services 
Programme Board, one of the key Programme Boards set up to oversee 
portfolio business plans in the council, and through Cabinet. 

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01

5.02

Appendix 1 - CSSIW Inspection of Children’s Services, September 2015
 
Appendix 2 - CSSIW Inspection Action Plan Update, October 2015

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 None.

Contact Officer: Neil Ayling, Chief Officer, Social Services
Telephone: 01352 704523
E-mail: neil.j.ayling@flintshire.gov.uk

mailto:neil.j.ayling@flintshire.gov.uk


7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 CSSIW - Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales 
IRO – Independent Reviewing Officer





September 2015

Inspection of  
Children’s Services

at Flintshire County 
Council

September 2015



2     © Crown copyright 2015       WG26377       Digital ISBN 978 1 4622 9

Contents
Introduction	 3

Summary	 4

Recommendations	 6

Findings	

	 Theme 1:  Access to Services	 7

	 Theme 2:  Assessment 	 12

	 Theme 3:  Safeguarding and Care Management	 16

	 Theme 4:  Leadership and Governance	 22

Appendix	 28



3

Introduction
Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) undertook an inspection of children’s 
services in Flintshire County Council during May and June 2015. Inspectors looked closely at the 
experiences of children and young people who had needed or still need help and/or protection. 

The inspection also considered the quality of outcomes achieved for children and families including 
a small sample of children and young people who were, or had been, looked after. Inspectors 
read case files and interviewed staff, managers and professionals from partner agencies. 
Wherever possible, and as appropriate, they talked to children, young people and their families.

In addition, inspectors evaluated what the council knew about its own performance and the 
difference it was making for the people it was seeking to help, protect and look after.

The council had experienced a significant period of change and at the time of the inspection had 
announced a review of children’s services with a view to informing a reorganisation of the service. 
Inspectors were pleased to note that senior managers were committed to achieving improvements 
in the provision of help and protection for children and families.

The recommendations made on page 6 of this report identify the key areas where post-inspection 
development work should be focused. They are intended to assist Flintshire County Council and its 
partners in their continuing improvement.

The inspection team would like to thank Flintshire elected members, staff, partner agencies and 
service users who contributed to this report. 



4

Summary 

Theme 1: Access Arrangements  

The council’s early intervention and prevention arrangements were insufficiently developed 
impacting on the timeliness of early help. The council was responsive where there was an 
immediate indication that a child was at risk, but the timeliness of the progress of contacts where 
there was not an obvious indication of significant harm was inconsistent. It was noted that a number 
of older children and young people who were referred did not receive a timely assessment or 
appropriate early intervention. The council was in the process of reviewing the resilience of the first 
contact arrangements. 

Theme 2: Assessment 

Strategy discussions were undertaken in accordance with guidance, but did not routinely include 
information from all relevant partners. The quality and timeliness of child protection enquiries was 
inconsistent.

The assessments seen were of a variable quality; where they were good there was evidence of 
utilising a range of information to inform the analysis. However, the good social work practice 
reflected in the content of assessments was undermined by the structure and design of the process, 
including transfer arrangements between the teams. The duplication of assessment processes and 
changes in social worker resulted in a loss of impetus that impacted on the engagement of families.

Theme 3: Safeguarding and Care management 

All child protection work was undertaken by qualified workers. The decision to convene a child 
protection conference was not always timely, but once made, the resulting conferences and reviews 
were well managed and appropriately child focused. The quality of the child protection plans seen 
were variable but mainly satisfactory and included some that were good. Core group working 
and child protection planning needed to be strengthened to ensure a more consistent shared 
understanding of the identified risks to the child, the progress required and the outcomes achieved. 
The authority’s approach to risk assessment and risk management needed to be more effectively 
communicated and understood by partner agencies. All children had a care plan, but the quality of 
the plan was not consistently forward looking, outcome focused and did not reflect the council’s 
ambition for looked after children. 

Services were being delivered to families and direct work undertaken but this was not always 
evident in the case file record, and was reported as being subject to resource capacity. The council 
had developed a clear relationship between the public law outline, child protection and looked after 
children process.

Theme 4: Leadership and Governance

Leadership, management and governance arrangements complied with statutory guidance. 
Senior leaders and officers had a shared commitment to improving safeguarding arrangements 
and had sought to strengthen this within their strategic priorities. Strategic plans needed to be 
better disseminated throughout children’s services and translated into an effective strategy, 
for the delivery of good quality services and improved outcomes for children, young people and 
their families. This framework will need to be informed by an ongoing analysis of the underlying 
complexities and risks associated with the service. The council needs to build-on the relationships 



5

it has with partner agencies to ensure a shared ownership of the strategic direction, and also the 
operational drive needed to improve services and outcomes for children, young people and their 
families.

Senior leaders were increasingly knowledgeable about performance and were seeking to ensure 
that they were better sighted on front line work and on the quality of services. The children’s forum 
was in place and had begun to raise the profile of looked after children across the council. 

Services were delivered by a suitably qualified, experienced and competent workforce that was 
able to meet the needs of local children, young people and their families. Management was seen 
as accessible, but there needs to be a stronger oversight of practice that supports the workforce to 
deliver services that result in positive outcomes for children and families. 



6

Recommendations
1. �As a priority, the council should progress its commitment to develop an early intervention 

framework that will deliver integrated services and provide early support to children, 
young people and families. 

2. �The council should establish effective systems to ensure that thresholds for assessments are 
consistent across the service and understood by staff and partners. 

3. �Multi-agency arrangements should be established to review repeat referrals and quality assure 
decision making.

4. The consistency in quality and the timeliness of assessments and plans must be improved.

5. �Children’s services’ approach to risk assessment and risk management should be more effectively 
shared and understood by partner agencies. 

6. �The council should progress its intention to review children’s services structure and ensure 
arrangements are in place to support the appropriate engagement of staff, partners and service 
users.

7. �The council should ensure that managerial leadership is sufficiently aligned to the professional 
experience needed to manage the complexity of discrete areas of operational delivery.

8. �Strong political and corporate support for children’s services must continue to ensure the service 
improvements needed are prioritised and the pace of improvement sustained.

9. �The children’s forum should continue to focus on ensuring that ambitious outcomes for looked 
after children and young people are achieved, and support improved mechanisms to gain the 
views of service users. 

10. �The workforce strategy should include leadership and development programmes to build 
resilience within the operational management team. 

11. �The draft Quality Assurance Framework must be systematically implemented across the service. 
Performance management and quality assurance arrangements, including scrutiny of service 
demand and routine auditing of the quality of practice, should be embedded across the service. 

12. �The quality of supervision should be reviewed to ensure there is sufficient resource and capacity 
available to manage it effectively. 



7

Findings
Theme 1:  Access to Services 

1. Explanation of findings

1.1 In November 2014 the council relocated its operational children’s services staff, including 
fostering, to one location based in Flint. The aim of this move was to promote an improved whole 
service identity and better working collaboration across the teams. However, staff raised concerns 
that the new office arrangements did not sufficiently ensure service users had ease of direct access 
to services. Partners and staff also identified an increased difficulty and delay in telephone contact 
with children’s services as the result of automated responses and unanswered phones being routed 
through a busy duty desk.

What we expect to see 

Thresholds between early intervention (including the provision of information, advice and 
signposting) and statutory social services are appropriately understood and are operating 
effectively. 

Key Findings 

•	 The council’s early intervention/prevention arrangements were insufficiently developed, 
impacting on the timeliness of early help. 

•	 The authority had maintained consistently good performance in relation to the number 
of referrals on which a decision was made within one working day. Senior management 
oversight and the quality assurance of screening decisions were insufficient and the first 
contact arrangements lacked resilience.

•	 The council’s information system did not support an effective oversight of a family’s previous 
involvement with social services. Chronologies and genograms were not purposeful.

•	 The council’s policy on thresholds, screening decisions and managing referrals were not 
sufficiently shared with or understood by partners. 

•	 Professionals were not kept sufficiently informed or engaged in the outcome of referrals 
they made to the authority. 

•	 The progress of contacts where there was not an obvious indication of significant harm was 
inconsistent, and the help offered to families was not always timely.

•	 The needs of young people aged 11+ were not always effectively assessed and prevented 
them receiving timely, preventative support.

•	 The authority’s duty and assessment model consisting of three pods did not sufficiently 
consider children, young people or families’ need for continuity and consistency of social 
worker. 



8

1.2 The council’s arrangements to receive and manage referrals to children’s services in Flintshire 
had been in place for over two years. The duty and assessment team consisted of three pods 
that each had distinct service responsibilities and largely operated independently of each other. 
The day‑to-day management of each of the pods was provided by a designated senior practitioner. 
The senior practitioners were managed by an experienced duty and assessment team manager who 
had overall responsibility for the team including performance and workflow. 

1.3 The duty and assessment team’s management arrangements had undergone a number of 
recent changes and the three senior practitioners were all new to their current role. However, 
arrangements for structured induction/training and initial additional support were inadequate. 

1.4 A key strength of the duty and assessment team arrangements was identified as the close 
working relationship between the senior practitioner and social workers, and the availability of 
management support. However, changes in the team manager’s responsibilities to include additional 
management responsibility and cover for senior practitioner’s work, where they had a reduced 
hours contract, had impacted on the overall management capacity within the team. Staff stated 
that managers, including service managers, were accessible, but the expectation that gaps in 
management time could be absorbed from within the current establishment had adversely impacted 
on manager’s availability. 

1.5 Inspectors identified that management oversight of the access arrangements were not sufficient 
to assure the authority that child and families received the timely support they required. 

1.6 The council’s first contact arrangements were managed through ‘pod one’. This pod, comprising 
of one full-time senior practitioner and two unqualified but experienced children’s services 
assistants, had responsibility for screening all new contacts and managing initial child protection 
strategy arrangements. Cases identified as requiring section 47 enquires were transferred to pod 
two, but could be directly allocated by the senior practitioner in pod one to a social worker in 
pod two. Those cases requiring an initial assessment were transferred to pod three. Cases were 
transferred again between pods two and three prior to case conference or for ongoing assessment. 
The senior practitioners had little oversight or control of the overall workflow across the duty and 
assessment team.

1.7 Inspectors found that the transfer arrangements between the three pods were designed to 
support the duty and assessments teams’ ability to manage the screening process; convene timely 
initial strategy discussions; and prompt allocation of section 47 enquiries. However, following the 
initial transfer, the progress and management of the case became fragmented and inspectors 
identified delays in allocation as cases moved between the pods. There was also a focus on 
completing different assessment processes rather than on timely analysis, intervention and support. 

1.8 The early throughput of work was seen as impeding social workers spending time with families, 
and resulted in missed opportunities to make a difference to children and families who experienced 
too many early changes of social worker, often at a time when the family were in crisis. Staff echoed 
these concerns and also raised that the throughput of cases between the pods acted to reduce 
ownership of decisions and prompted risk adverse management.

Quote from member of staff 

“The telephone system is problematic when people try to contact children’s services. 
Children experience changes in social worker in the duty team within a short space of time.” 



9

1.9 The authority had experienced year-on-year growth in the number of referrals – 1,220 (2013/14) 
to 1,825 (2014/2015) - and a number of unexplained fluctuations in the volume of contacts during 
the year. These unexpected increases created additional pressure on the service. Despite this, 
the authority had maintained consistently good performance in relation to the number of referrals on 
which a decision was made within one working day. 

1.10 The number of re-referrals, however, had increased from 158 (2013/14) to 478 (2014/2015) 
and it was evident from the information provided by the authority, and from the cases reviewed 
by inspectors, that some families experienced multiple contacts before a case progressed to 
an assessment.

1.11 Despite the significant increase in overall contact/referrals, the number allocated for initial 
assessment had remained around the same level with less than a 4% change over the last four 
years. The council needed to develop a more coherent approach to the collection and analysis 
of relevant performance information, to better understand the safe and effective operation of the 
front door (duty and assessment service). Such information would also help to inform the council’s 
service development and commissioning intentions in relation to preventative services.

1.12 The authority’s early intervention arrangements to support families were not sufficiently 
developed. The current Team around the Family (TAF) arrangements located in the education and 
youth portfolio were under pressure with staff vacancies and a waiting list for services. Staff and 
partners expressed frustration with the lack of a co-ordinated approach to early help for families, 
as they believed this would significantly benefit families and also mitigate the need for statutory 
services. The council had now identified the development of an early intervention framework as a 
priority, and the management of the TAF was due to transfer to the social services department in 
September 2015. The development of an early intervention framework will need to take account of 
and inform the planned review of children’s services to ensure a cohesive whole service approach.

1.13 Children and young people in need of protection were identified by partner agencies and timely 
referrals were made to children’s social services. Professional partners expressed some frustration 
with thresholds but generally welcomed the quality of the duty officer’s early advice, and reported 
that once a referral was accepted the initial response by children’s services was constructive and 
appropriate safeguarding action taken. 

1.14 Despite reported confidence in children’s services, partners identified that they often lacked 
clarity regarding how threshold decisions on new cases were determined, and told inspectors 
that they were not kept sufficiently informed regarding the outcome of referrals. Inspectors were 
told that partners sometimes challenged the unqualified duty staff and sought to discuss threshold 
decisions directly with the senior practitioner. 

1.15 Some agencies indicated that they did not understand how the pod system worked and that 
the rapid transfer of cases between teams created uncertainty regarding who to contact in respect 
of tracking or following up referrals. Partners also highlighted differences regarding the extent 
to which social workers across the teams sought information and engaged them in subsequent 
assessments or informed them of the outcomes.

Quote from partner agency

“The duty service works well once you’re in to the service but getting into the service is not 
that easy.”



10

1.16 The referrals, seen by inspectors, received from other agencies contained sufficient information 
to support initial decision making. The use of multi-agency referral forms was inconsistent but verbal 
referrals were mainly followed up in writing. The multi-agency referral form (MARF) would benefit 
from being refreshed. Children’s services workers receiving referrals were proactive about obtaining 
additional required information and confident in challenging partners regarding any shortfall in the 
quality or timeliness of referral information. 

1.17 The volume of contacts from the police (CID16) reporting incidents of domestic abuse remained 
consistently high and this created additional pressures for the duty team. The quality of the police 
referrals seen were variable but more recent examples included a helpful summary of previous 
involvement with the family and an analysis of presenting risk. Children’s services operates a 
domestic abuse protocol that results in all first domestic abuse incidents triggering a letter to 
the family, as a minimum response – subsequent reports are referred to the multi-agency risk 
assessment conference (MARAC). During interviews it was clear that not all staff were aware of this 
protocol or of the resulting outcomes. There also appeared to be limited intelligence regarding the 
impact of the protocol on the rate of repeat episodes/referrals. 

1.18 Duty staff made relevant background checks with other agencies; however, inspectors often 
found these were not easily identifiable on the electronic information system. The electronic 
information system did not support an accessible overview of social services engagement with the 
family, and depending on the type of case, information was not automatically pulled through from 
the nominal child’s file to that of any relevant siblings. This could result in significant information not 
being appropriately considered as part of determining risk. The genograms seen were not routinely 
updated and chronologies were not purposeful. An established user group was in place to promote 
operational improvements to the electronic information system and selective problems were being 
addressed in addition to reviewing the future requirements of the service. 

1.19 Inspectors found that when contacts were received where there was an obvious indication that 
a child or children were at risk or had suffered significant harm, prompt decisions were made and 
initial action was taken to protect the child. Child protection investigations were undertaken, in line 
with guidance, following a strategy discussion. In the cases reviewed, inspectors saw no examples 
of children and families being subjected to initial child protection investigations unnecessarily. 

1.20 When contacts were received where there was not an obvious indication of significant harm, 
decisions to progress to referral were not always timely or appropriate. As a result, children were 
left too long at potential risk and families were not always being offered help early enough. 

1.21 In some of these cases, evidence was seen of an over reliance on self-reporting with workers 
determining screening decisions based on information obtained from telephone contact with 
families, which was not sufficiently verified or challenged. This was particularly seen in relation to 
concerns around domestic abuse violence. 

1.22 Inspectors saw examples of cases being closed where there was a clear indication that 
children and families were in need of help and support, albeit with no obvious indication that the 
level of need met the threshold for significant harm. Nevertheless, these cases clearly should have 
progressed to an assessment prior to deciding how and by whom support could most effectively be 
provided. The impact of this was that children and families were not being helped when they should 
have been. The thresholds in relation to adolescents were identified as being set particularly ‘high’ 
and concerns were often minimised. Inspectors saw examples where contacts relating to young 
people living with parents with poor mental health and/or substance misuse were not progressed to 
an assessment which prevented them from receiving timely support. 



11

1.23 The council had recognised the need to update its policy and guidance for intervention, 
and the need to work with partners to develop and reinforce a shared understanding in respect 
of thresholds.

1.24 The authority had systems in place for responding to referrals out of normal office hours. 
The emergency duty team (EDT) had access to the council’s electronic information system and the 
senior practitioner had systems in place to prioritise cases referred in by the EDT service.

1.25 Inspectors saw some good evidence that the senior practitioner maintained oversight and sign 
off in relation to screening decisions that included comments. However, the overall management 
oversight of access arrangements needs to be strengthened to include the routine audit of case 
files, to ensure better control of the quality and consistency of practice. The council would also 
benefit from the development of operational multi-agency peer review processes and a clear 
protocol for managing re-referrals. 



12

Theme 2:  Assessment

2. Explanation of findings

2.1  Inspectors found that strategy discussions were generally timely and managed in accordance 
with guidance. However, the records of strategy discussions varied too much in quality and often 
lacked detailed planning arrangements concerning responsibility and timescales for action.

2.2 Inspectors were concerned that arrangements in the duty and assessment team meant that 
neither the manager nor the social worker responsible for undertaking the section 47 enquires 
(from pod two) were involved in the initial strategy process, and had no ability to influence the 
management of the case. The use of outcome strategy discussions/meetings was not always 
evident, and staff and partners described this practice as less secure. This contributed to partner 
assertions that they were not kept sufficiently informed of the outcome of referrals. 

2.3 Strategy meetings had mainly been displaced in favour of strategy discussions between 
children’s services and the police. This was partly attributed to the reduced availability of the police, 
which was also said to have resulted in a growth in single agency (social services) led section 
47 enquiries and fewer opportunities for joint social services/police enquires. Partner agencies 
expressed concern that the use of strategy discussions meant that despite having significant 
intelligence about the family, they were not able to effectively contribute to this key decision making 
process. The authority had already determined to take this matter up with the police and evaluate 
the impact it had on practice.

Key Findings

•	 Strategy discussions were managed in accordance with guidance.
•	 Strategy discussions did not routinely include information sharing with all key agencies.
•	 The quality and timeliness of child protection enquiries seen were inconsistent. 
•	 Assessments did not always ensure a holistic analysis of need/risk from the outset impacting 

on timely decision making and the help offered to families.
•	 Delays in case transfer, the duplication of assessment processes and changes in social 

worker resulted in a loss of impetus that impacted on the engagement of families. 
•	 Good social work practice was reflected in the content of assessments but was often 

undermined by the structure and design of the system 
•	 Assessments often articulated children’s wishes and feelings but the resulting analysis and 

plan was not always sufficiently child focused.
•	 The authorities approach to risk assessment and risk management needed to be more 

effectively shared and understood by partner agencies. 

What we expect to see

Children and young people who are or are likely to be at risk of harm or in need of support are 
identified and protected.



13

2.4 The quality of section 47 enquires seen were variable and the time taken to complete enquiries 
varied across, and within, the teams. Inspectors found that there was a lack of consistency 
regarding the templates used for recording section 47 enquiries which made it difficult at times to 
follow the process, particularly for a new worker’s understanding of the case. In some instances, 
inspectors saw section 47 enquiries that had taken several months to complete and the resulting 
outcome was that further assessment was still needed. 

2.5 The council demonstrated clear decision making when moving into child protection 
investigations and proportionate urgent action was taken to protect children and young people at 
risk of immediate significant harm. However, once into the assessment process, including section 47 
enquiries, the council appeared reluctant to make planning decisions until all assessment avenues 
had been fully exhausted. This, at times, impacted on the timeliness of cases being progressed to 
child protection case conference and delayed help being offered to the child and family. The council 
will want to assure themselves that assessments do not result in undue delay and are undertaken at 
an appropriately focused pace. 

2.6 Inspectors noted the action taken to strengthen the management oversight and sign off of 
pre‑birth assessments, and that these were now systematically reviewed by the fieldwork service 
manager following a review of this process in early 2015. 

2.7 The authority had used emergency protection powers six times in the last year. Inspectors 
sampled these cases and found examples were such action was appropriate but also a small 
number where planned action could have been taken earlier. The authority would benefit from 
having systems in place to routinely review and learn from such cases. 

2.8 The number of initial assessments completed in the period 2014/2015 had reduced from the same 
period for the previous year. Although the percentage of initial assessments completed in seven 
days had improved to 88%, the number of assessments completed overall had decreased. 

2.9 Child in need cases were held across a number of teams, all of which experienced different 
pressures and competing demands which impacted on the amount and intensity of work that 
could be carried out. Workers were being innovative in carrying out direct work but this was not 
always effectively captured on the case records. Staff viewed work with child in need as being 
“constantly eroded”  by child protection priorities and believed they would have more capacity if 
early intervention services were in place. Inspectors questioned whether the use of the ‘nominal 
child’ on the information system also meant that the overall child in need demand and resulting 
caseload was not recognised by the council.

2.10 Inspectors saw few examples of initial assessments, as the majority of cases reviewed 
progressed to strategy discussion or a risk assessment. Staff identified the limited reliance on good 
quality initial assessments as a barrier to families receiving early support that might divert the need 
for more intensive intervention. Early opportunities to intervene were therefore potentially being 
missed.

2.11 The number of core assessments completed in 2014/2015 had reduced slightly from the previous 
year, but timeliness in completion was reported as remaining consistent at around 88%. 

2.12 The council had invested in a whole service risk assessment model (Risk 2) to support social 
workers to identify and analyse potential risk factors. Most staff told us that the model was well 
embedded within children services and that they had received or had access to the necessary 
training. Whilst appreciating the need for a risk framework, some staff found the application 
of the model was too inflexible and did not work well for some children and families. It was a 



14

concern that some partners were not aware of the council’s risk assessment process. This raised 
questions regarding how the assessment informed and translated into a shared multi-agency risk 
management plan. 

2.13 To prevent duplication, the authority had determined that the assessment resulting from a 
section 47 enquiry and/or Risk 2 assessment could be used interchangeably as core assessments. 
Inspectors found that the council’s flexible use of assessment formats had not been sufficiently 
underpinned by clear service expectations, for example timescales or targets for completion. 
The time taken to complete the assessment was also calculated from the day of allocation, 
rather than from the date of referral or the date when the decision was made to undertake an 
assessment. Inspectors were concerned how this impacted on the service user experience and 
also how well the council understood and accurately reported on the timeliness of its assessment 
activity. 

2.14 Some of the assessments seen were of good quality, utilising a range of information to inform 
the analysis. However, inspectors identified that the good social work practice reflected in the 
content of assessments was undermined by the structure and design of the system. 

2.15 The unintended consequence of the council’s different assessment formats was that 
assessments often became fragmented and/or protracted. The failure to ensure an appropriate 
holistic analysis of need and risk from the outset impacted on timely decision making. Inspectors 
saw examples where decisions were deferred for further assessment rather than being 
progressed to a multi-agency child protection conference or child in need planning process. 
Also, despite several assessments, there was often no robust view of the family’s parenting capacity 
and ability to meet the child’s needs. 

2.16 The duplication of some assessment processes resulted in a loss of impetus that was 
compounded by the transfer arrangements between the pods/teams that necessitate families 
re‑engage with a new social worker. This also directly impacted on the experience of the family and 
their ability/willingness to engage in a process that they did not understand. 

2.17 Evidence from case files, staff and families highlighted that the council did not routinely 
provide people or relevant partner agencies with a copy of their assessment. This practice, again, 
must impact on children and families understanding of the purpose of both the assessment activity 
and the resulting plan, and potentially limit their ability to influence and use the help they receive. 

2.18 The extent to which children and young people were involved in their assessments was variable 
but some good practice was identified. In some cases, social workers were able to describe the 
persistent efforts they had made to gain the child’s wishes and feelings, and it was disappointing 
that this was not better reflected in case records. In other examples, however, it was not possible to 
determine from the assessment if the child had been seen or seen alone and this will require further 
attention. 

Quote from parent 

“The first social worker worked well with us as a family, but then I had to have a new social 
worker and I didn’t understand why we had to go to a case conference. I felt judged when I had 
done nothing wrong.”  



15

2.19 Inspectors saw evidence on the files that managers sign off assessments and provide comment. 
It was positive that managers checked if the child had been seen as part of this process but the 
council’s performance, for example in relation to the percentage of initial assessments where there 
is evidence that a child is seen/seen alone, has remained stubbornly low. Inspectors also challenged 
the assertion found on a number of cases that the child involved was too young to express a view. 
Staff and managers would benefit from greater guidance regarding the council’s expectations, 
particularly around the engagement of younger children in assessments.

2.20 Despite the importance attributed by staff to seeking the child’s wishes and feelings, 
the assessment analysis and resulting plan often lacked a sufficient focus on promoting best 
outcomes for the child. Most of the manager’s comments regarding the assessments related to next 
process steps rather than a reflection on the content, the quality of the assessment and the resulting 
plan.

2.21 The timeliness of the sign off process was variable, often reflecting the manager’s availability. 
In some instances this delayed the subsequent planning/transfer of cases. 

2.22 As with access arrangements, senior management oversight of the quality of assessments 
requires strengthening. Inspectors were reassured that the council had recognised that the 
assessment arrangements were not as effective as they could be, and had commissioned an 
external facilitator to support them in a review of their process.



16

Theme 3:  Safeguarding and Care Management 

3. Explanation of findings 
3.1 All child protection work was undertaken by a qualified worker and there was a good mix of 
experience within the teams. All children whose names were included on the child protection 
register were allocated to a qualified worker. A lack of consistent management capacity was raised 
as increasingly impacting on management availability and oversight of cases. 

3.2 When the decision was made that a child protection conference was required, conferences 
were convened within appropriate timescales. The council had seen a significant reduction in 
the number of children whose names were included on the child protection register, from 133 in 
2013/2014 to 75 at the end of 2014/15. The children safeguarding managers routinely scrutinised 

What we expect to see 

Children and young people identified as being in need of help or protection, including looked 
after, experience timely and effective multi-agency help and protection through risk based 
planning, authoritative practice and review and secure positive outcomes.

Key Findings 

•	 Social workers could articulate children’s needs and the risks associated with their care as 
well as actions required for reducing risk and achieving desired outcomes. 

•	 The council’s approach to risk assessment and risk management needs to be more 
effectively communicated and understood by partner agencies.

•	 All child protection work was undertaken by qualified staff. 
•	 Once identified as required, child protection conference and reviews were timely, well 

managed and child focused. 
•	 Many children had experienced frequent changes of social worker. 
•	 Core groups and child protection plans did not always ensure a shared understanding of the 

risks, the progress required or the outcomes achieved. 
•	 The council had developed a clear relationship between the public law outline and child 

protection.
•	 The council had a good range of supportive services to meet the needs of children and 

families requiring statutory intervention, but access to these services was increasingly 
subject to a waiting list. 

•	 Looked after children cases were allocated but not all looked after children were allocated 
to a qualified social worker. 

•	 The quality of care plans was inconsistent and not sufficiently forward looking or outcome 
focused.

•	 Looked after children reviews seen were well managed and independent reviewing officers 
(IRO) had the skills and experience to deliver against the expectations of the service



17

these figures, providing information and a narrative to the senior management team and to the 
relevant scrutiny committee The team was intending to develop clearer links with the duty service 
to better understand the fluctuations in the number of new child protection referrals and track child 
protection enquiries more effectively.

3.3 The social work child protection conference reports seen by inspectors were found to be 
of adequate to good quality, providing sufficient information for conference members to make 
appropriate decisions. Safeguarding managers believe the quality of social work reports is 
improving and that the Risk 2 assessment has provided a helpful framework.

3.4 The council’s transfer arrangements meant that the social work reports for conference, although 
timely, were prepared by a social worker using the information from the section 47 report written 
by the previous worker. The time constraints, given the case had to be transferred and prepared 
for conference in 15 days, resulted in little opportunity to engage with the family. Inspectors were 
told that these arrangements did not work well for children or families and that it was difficult for 
professionals to ensure the views of children were represented at the initial conference when 
they did not always know the child well. All the social workers and managers interviewed were 
committed to improving outcomes for children and families they worked with. However, the frequent 
changes of social worker impacted negatively on the quality of casework and, more significantly, 
the relationships between children’s families and staff following child protection registration cases 
transferred to the family intervention team (FIT) team, and it was only at this point that the pace of 
social work change slowed down. 

3.5 The child protection case conferences observed by inspectors were well chaired and child 
focused. The council has increased the capacity of its safeguarding managers in response to 
growth in demand and to ensure better continuity for families. Partner agencies attendance at 
case conferences is monitored and was described as good, and professional non-attendance was 
challenged. The police do not always attend review case conferences but provide reports where 
relevant.

Inspectors saw examples of social workers and conference chairs providing good support to 
families attending conferences, demonstrating mindfulness of the potential sensitivities involved. 
The authority had also acted to bolster the child’s voice and understanding of the process through 
the development of an innovative ‘buddy’ system. 

3.6 The conference chairs ensured that core group membership and an outline child protection 
plan was agreed at the conclusion of the first conference. Core group and child protection review 
arrangements were timely and included those professionals directly involved with the family. 
However, the ownership and challenge afforded by the core group was inconsistent. In one 

Observation – case conference 

The chair was clear and confirmed that reports had been read and ensured that all participants 
were able to contribute. Both parents attended and despite the uncomfortable nature of some 
of the issues, people did not shy away from discussing the affect on the children. There was 
a conference buddy who had completed a piece of participation work with the eldest child 
– this was relayed to the conference. The discussion was challenging at times but was 
sensitively done. 



18

example, an agreed parenting assessment was not undertaken, was not challenged and delayed 
de-registration. There was insufficient evidence of how parents, carers and young people were 
engaged in core groups or that they had been helped to understand the process as their views were 
not routinely captured in the record. 

3.7 The quality of the child protection plans seen were variable but mainly satisfactory and included 
some that were good. Children who were subject to child protection plans were mainly visited within 
agreed timescales. Inspectors saw some constructive work with partner agencies to progress 
both child protection and child in need plans. Partner agencies equally reported effective working 
relationships with social workers, but again highlighted that the changes of social worker hindered 
good communication and “made no sense to families”.

3.8 The child protection plan template was not considered by inspectors or staff as effective in 
promoting outcome focused child in need or child protection planning, and this remains an area for 
development. The format of the plan was overly focused on the social worker as the co-ordinator of 
tasks and activities, and plans often did not capture the quality or detail of the work undertaken with 
the family or the outcomes they needed to achieve. 

3.9 Some plans seen lacked clarity regarding what change was needed and how progress would be 
measured. In some instances, the focus on one aspect of risk dominated the plan and other issues 
became “temporarily lost” potentially leaving the child vulnerable. There was often an over focusing 
on parent’s compliance rather than on the difference the plan made to the child. Inspectors were not 
confident that parents/young people were routinely provided with a copy of the resulting plan which 
limited families shared ownership of the issues. 

3.10 Overall progress of plans was considered at review child protection conferences and this 
provided an essential level of quality assurance. Conference minutes were produced to satisfactory 
standard. However, inspectors were concerned that the council’s practice of not producing 
conference minutes at the point of de-registration obstructed scrutiny and made it difficult to 
understand the rationale for de-registration. 

3.11 Most children and young people who need protection were subject to case conference 
and child protection plans. However, some cases on the cusp of child protection or following 
de‑registration were managed through the council’s child in need arrangements. The timeliness and 
quality of child in need plans/reviews was variable but included some good structured work and 
service provision. Other child in need cases, however, reflected over optimism regarding the family’s 
understanding of the issues. In some instances, the decision not to register the child or de-register 
the child was influenced by the level of co-operation shown by the family during lengthy assessment 
processes. Despite the family subsequently withdrawing from child in need services there was no 
evaluation or review of what this meant for the safety of the child. In other instances, cases were 
closed before the outcome or impact of referrals to other services was known.

Case example from file

The mother’s initial resistance to intervention was overcome by the work of the social worker 
and through the involvement of the freedom programme. The school worked together with the 
social worker to provide additional well-being support and the direct work undertaken with the 
children supported them to feel safe. This resulted in positive outcomes for the children and 
their family.



19

3.12 The looked after children population had shown a slight increase, from 219 in 2013/2014 to 224 
in 2014/2015. These cases were managed across a number of teams, transferring to a dedicated 
children and young adults support team (CYAST) once the permanency plan has been determined. 
The children integrated disability team (CID) and the transition teams also manage looked after 
children cases. 

3.13 The council had developed a discreet project which had developed a clear relationship 
between the public law outline (PLO), child protection and section 20 accommodations. Cases were 
now referred to a PLO screening process after the second or third case conference. This system 
included prompt access to legal advice and senior management oversight of decision making, 
including reviewing timescales for the period a case should remain in the pre-proceeding stage. 
This development was viewed positively by staff and helped families as it supported more timely 
identification and action on cases where families had been unable to make sufficient progress to 
meet the child’s needs. This project was now embedded within the FIT team.

3.14 Good performance was reported in relation to the timeliness of first placements that began with 
a care plan, as well as timeliness of reviews and statutory visits. The council’s systems supported 
the identification of any shortfall in performance across the teams. The council was yet to translate 
what this performance meant in relation to the outcomes achieved for young people. It was noted 
that there had been recent corporate focus on the timeliness of health assessments and personal 
education plans, and this had resulted in some improved compliance but further improvement is 
required. 

3.15 The council’s ambition that all looked after children were allocated to a qualified worker was 
mainly realised, but some looked after children were allocated to experienced but unqualified staff. 
The council had systems in place to support the oversight of these arrangements. Once cases 
transferred to the CYAST team, children and young people had a greater opportunity to develop 
more consistent relationships with their social workers.

3.16 Evidence from the interviews and the files reviewed indicated that children did not become 
looked after unless it was necessary but in some instances earlier intervention may have:

	 -	 prevented the escalation of issues that resulted in the need for care;
	 -	 supported more timely decisions to intervene. 

3.17 The council worked hard to try to ensure that, where possible, children were looked after within 
their extended family or supported to maintain more meaningful relationships. The authority had 
developed a positive family group conferencing service that was being used to promote this aim. 
The council had also had success in increasing the recruitment and support available to kinship 
carers. Whilst recognising and supporting the council’s focus on maintaining children within their 
family where safe to do so, the perception of some staff was that the council’s placement panel 
arrangements “slowed the decision to admit a child into care” despite community services not being 
available or agile enough to meet the child’s identified needs.

Quote from social worker 

“Social workers are changed too often for families and often at critical times. When allocated 
to the long‑term team they should then stay with the allocated social worker and not be passed 
on as this is very disruptive for the family and teams working with them.”



20

3.18	The council had a good range of supportive services to meet the needs of children and 
families requiring statutory intervention. There was evidence that children and families benefited 
from these services but service pressures and reduced capacity within the FAST team was 
increasingly impacting on the availability and timeliness of delivery. Social workers and partners 
saw the reduction of the service as directly affecting the outcomes achieved for children and were 
frustrated by the extent to which they saw good services being “eroded” and perceived this as due 
to the need for efficiency savings. 

3.19 The evidence from the cases reviewed was that care planning was mainly satisfactory but 
inconsistent. Children had a care plan but the current format of the plan was often not sufficiently 
forward looking or outcome focused. The health and education plans also needed to be better 
integrated into the overall plan. The looked after children education service was valued and 
communication between education and social services was described as supporting the focus on 
attainment and school stability. 

3.20 The most frequently highlighted gap in service provision for looked after children remained the 
limitation on the availability of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) although the 
work of the looked after children CAMHS worker was valued by staff.

3.21 Social workers had a good understanding of their cases including potential risk to the child 
but this was not always well reflected in the plan and, in some instances, there was a lack of timely 
contingency planning in relation to the child’s placement needs.

3.22 The vulnerability of looked after children who go missing from care was recognised by staff but 
there was a lack of clarity regarding the procedures in place for managing this issue. Rather, there 
appeared to be an over reliance that “a manager would advise them what to do”. The safeguarding 
arrangements for managing this and the involvement of children and young people  in other  “risky 
behaviours” need to be more firmly established across the service to ensure that staff are confident 
to take timely action to protect the child.

3.23 Staff saw themselves as strong advocates for children and sought to be creative in their work 
to engage children and young people in their care planning. Formal advocacy was commissioned 
on a regional basis but the recent re-commissioning of the service had resulted in some temporary 
shortfall in provision. Issues of poor communication were highlighted by staff regarding the re-
commissioning process and the service was said to not yet be fully established, for example in 
relation to its independent visiting service. Senior managers were seeking to manage these issues 
to limit the impact for children and young people in Flintshire.

3.24 Looked after children reviews were compliant and independent reviewing officers (IRO) 
routinely met with children and young people prior to the reviews to encourage their engagement. 
The IRO service was represented on the children forum and also contributed to the council’s 
placement panels; this provided them with good opportunity to ensure a strong focus on 
continuity of planning and on best outcomes for children and young people. The quality assurance 
responsibilities of the IRO service include reporting (for example) on the timeliness and quality of 
statutory visits. 

3.25 Staff, managers and partners across the teams were clearly confident in their role, 
responsibilities and commitment to looked after children. However, staff were concerned that 
budget pressures were increasingly impacting on the council’s level of ambition for looked after 
children, with a more perceived focus on “meeting requirements” and being “good enough”. It will 
be important for the council to address this perception and demonstrate its clear commitment to 
driving and achieving best outcomes for looked after children and young people. 



21

3.26 The council has recently developed a single safeguarding unit, co-locating the adult and 
children’s safeguarding teams with the IRO service, together reporting to the head of safeguarding. 
Managers and staff were energised by the management interest that had brought about this change 
and were optimistic that the new unit would support better sharing of intelligence, a stronger line 
of sight on the quality and responsiveness of operational practice and a stronger focus on the child. 
This unit has only just been located together and it was therefore too early to determine what impact 
it would have.

Quotes from staff 

“Looked after children are the priority and staff always try to ensure their voice is heard and 
will challenge the council on behalf of the child if necessary. 

Changes in the budget to support looked after children in education has meant they can no 
longer access direct support from tutors – this is a backward step.“  



22

Theme 4:  Leadership and Governance

Key Findings

•	  Leadership, management and governance arrangements complied with statutory guidance.
•	 Senior leaders and officers saw safeguarding as a priority and were committed to improving 

safeguarding mechanisms. 
•	 The council’s strategic direction needs to be translated into a strategy for delivery of 

children’s services that is effectively communicated to staff, partners and service users.
•	 The council needs to ensure there is an ongoing analysis of the underlying complexities and 

risks associated with children’s services.
•	 Elected members’ ability to challenge performance needs to be strengthened by improved 

quality assurance information.
•	 The authority is seeking to improve how the voices of children and young people shape 

service development.
•	 The cross cutting responsibilities of the social services senior management team were not 

well understood by staff and partners. 
•	 The council should ensure that managerial leadership is sufficiently aligned to the 

professional experience needed to manage the complexity of discrete areas of operational 
delivery. 

•	 Performance and quality assurance information needs to be more effectively captured and 
used to systematically drive operational performance. 

•	 A suitably qualified, experienced and committed workforce was in place. 
•	 The council has a strong commitment to learning and development.
•	  The council needs to ensure that structured induction and core training programmes is 

available for all staff, including managers and agency staff.
•	 Staff received and valued regular supervision but the quality was inconsistent and subject to 

work pressures.
•	 The morale of some staff was being affected by changes in service and management 

capacity.

What we expect to see

Leadership management and governance arrangements comply with statutory guidance, and 
together establish an effective strategy for the delivery of good quality services and outcomes 
for children, young people and their families.

The authority works with partners to deliver help, care and protection for children and young 
people, and fulfils its corporate parenting responsibilities for looked after children. 

Leaders, managers and elected members have a comprehensive knowledge and understanding 
of practice and performance to enable them to discharge their responsibilities effectively. 

Services are delivered by a suitably qualified, experienced and competent workforce that is 
able to meet the needs of local children, young people and their families.



23

4. Explanation of findings   

Strategic direction 

4.1 At the most strategic level, the council has determined the important principle that families 
are supported and their whole family approach is clearly established within the council’s Single 
Integrated Plan (SIP 2013–2017). However, It was not evident the extent to which its strategic 
direction had been informed by an analysis of either joint strategic or shared local needs. 

4.2 Leadership, management and governance arrangements comply with statutory guidance and 
arrangements were in place for engagement with strategic partners. We noted the chief executive’s 
leadership role on the local service board and the chief officer’s social service (statutory director 
of social services) role on the regional safeguarding children’s board. The evidence provided by 
partners suggested that the contribution of the chief officer to the regional safeguarding board, 
whilst influential, had been hindered by capacity issues within the senior management team. 
Flintshire’s representation on the board and the relevant subgroups has been strengthened with the 
recent appointment of the senior officer safeguarding/lead for children.

4.3 The council was aware of its strengths and areas for development, and had undergone a 
significant period of reorganisation to align its senior management arrangements with its model 
for delivering sustainable services. This focused on a leaner approach underpinned by improved 
cross directorate working. The changes in the senior officer team were described by officers and 
members as positioning the council to make efficiency savings, but also supporting a changed 
delivery model that reduced silo working.

4.4 Elected members and officers were clear that safeguarding was a long established corporate 
priority, but believed that this had been recently strengthened by the council’s decision, as a 
response to such UK wide emergent issues as child sexual exploitation and adult safeguarding, 
to designate safeguarding as a strategic priority within the councils Improvement Plan for 2015/16.

4.5 The council was confident that the focus on families promoted the ability of the statutory 
director to shape the corporate agenda. There was corporate assurance that although children’s 
services would contribute to future savings they would remain relatively protected. At the time of 
the inspection, the council had determined a significant change agenda for children’s services, to be 
overseen by a modernisation board chaired by the chief executive. Despite a greater awareness 
of the challenges facing children’s services, there needs to be ongoing analysis of the underlying 
complexities and risks associated with the service.

4.6 Inspectors found a good level of political support for the council’s strategic direction and 
children’s services. The cabinet member for social services met regularly with the chief officer 
for social services and his management team. The cabinet member expressed confidence in 
undertaking the responsibilities of the role. The briefing arrangements described, however, 
were mainly informal and would benefit from being more structured to ensure officer accountability.

4.7 The scrutiny arrangements undertaken through the social and health care overview and scrutiny 
committee were well established. Committee members understood their challenge role and could 
provide some positive examples of how they discharged their responsibilities in monitoring the 
council’s performance. Inspectors had reservations that the reports provided to scrutiny did not 
always include a sufficiently robust analysis, and believed that elected members’ ability to challenge 
performance would be strengthened by improved information regarding the quality of services and 
the experience of people receiving services.



24

4.8 Elected members and senior officers undertook regular visits to front line staff to directly 
hear their views, as recommended by Lord Lamming (following the death of Victoria Climbie). 
Staff welcomed these visits but believed that the arrangements could be more purposeful and 
create more opportunity for front line workers to discuss service pressures. 

4.9 The children’s forum (corporate parenting board) is established and elected members are well 
represented. The forum membership includes four young people and their direct involvement 
helps to inform service improvement. Issues raised in this forum are reflected and tracked through 
scrutiny. Members of the board could give positive examples of what difference corporate parenting 
had made to children receiving services, and believed the recent appointment of a participation 
officer will support better engagement of children and young people in service design and strategic 
thinking. 

Leadership 
4.10 Children’s social services had experienced a period of change. The departure of a long serving 
head of service had resulted in a loss of expertise in children’s services and in what staff and 
partners described as a period of “leadership inertia”. The chief officer social services management 
team was configured to reflect the strategic focus on families, with all managers having a role in 
both children and adult services. This team, although confident in its ambition, was only recently 
fully established and was still developing its working relationships and accountabilities. 

4.11 Inspectors found that the strategic direction for children’s services had not been effectively 
translated into a strategy for delivery of children’s services that had been disseminated throughout 
the workforce. The shared service responsibilities of senior managers was therefore not yet 
well understood, and some staff and partners said that they did not know who was responsible 
for decision making for some services. Whilst understanding the intention behind the revised 
management arrangements, inspectors viewed the stated advantages as yet untested and mainly 
aspirational. The council will need to ensure that managerial leadership is sufficiently aligned to the 
professional experience needed to manage the complexity of discrete areas of operational delivery. 

4.12 Staff consistently reported that there had been a recent change in culture with the appointment 
of the senior manager safeguarding/lead for children in February 2015. Staff and partners expressed 
confidence both in the post holder and also to there being a designated senior lead for children’s 
services. 

4.13 At the time of the inspection, children’s services were in the process of initiating a significant 
programme of change. This programme included:

-	 review of children services to inform a restructuring of services;
-	 restructuring of business support services;  
-	 development of an early intervention and prevention service;
-	 implementation of a quality assurance framework; 
-	 review of assessment processes.

4.14 Whilst reflecting the lack of sustained management focus in the past, and the current need to 
manage growing demand and efficiencies, inspectors recognised that the scope of the council’s 
plans signalled their renewed commitment to improving both early help and statutory services for 
children, young people and their families. The council fully acknowledged that it had “much to do to 
translate these aspirations into a focused framework for delivery of children’s services.”



25

4.15 Most staff and partners welcomed the announced plans to review services, but some were 
frustrated that a number of key vacancies had remained unfilled whilst a service restructure was 
being considered. The council will need to ensure that the speed of change is appropriately paced 
and is undertaken in a way that takes staff with them and supports the meaningful engagement of 
partners and service users.

Performance information and quality assurance 
4.16 Management information was being used to measure some aspects of performance, but 
this was not sufficiently systematic to improve the quality of services for children and families. 
Inspectors recognised the close and regular attention paid by senior officers and members to key 
performance indicators, and that the council reported mainly positive and/or improving performance 
on that basis.

4.17 Managers had access to performance data through a dedicated performance officer and 
bespoke reports, and the information system supported further development of reports. Although 
some recent audit activity was noted, inspectors were concerned how performance such as 
that relating to re-referrals and assessments was routinely captured and used to challenge the 
authority’s practices. It was disappointing that many operational staff understood performance 
information to be a management tool rather than as a means of improving the experience of children 
and young people. 

4.18	Managers recognised that overall quality assurance mechanisms was underdeveloped and 
were in the process of introducing a new framework that would better inform analysis of service 
effectiveness. This will need to be embedded as core business at all levels across the service. 
The recent development of a safeguarding unit, including safeguarding managers and the IRO 
service, was seen as a positive means of supporting a more effective line of sight on the quality of 
operational practice, but this was still at a very early stage. 

4.19 The council was developing strategies to ensure it sustained a culture of learning. Most staff 
we interviewed expressed positive views about the availability/accessibility of formal and required 
training, and inspectors recognised the council’s strong commitment to learning and development. 
However, systematic arrangements were not yet sufficiently well-established across the service 
to capture and disseminate wider learning from social work practice and service user feedback 
mechanisms. It will be important to ensure that the CID/transition services are routinely included 
in any wider children service learning. It was noted that the complaints officer attended social 
work team meetings on a quarterly basis to look at lessons learnt. Many of the complaints 
seen by inspectors echoed concerns around frequent changes of social worker and the lack of 
communication; this intelligence should inform the planned restructuring of services.

Workforce 
4.20 The council had introduced a number of changes to support staff to work flexibly, but also to 
improve communication and create a stronger children’s service identity. These changes included 
the introduction of agile working that supported staff to access and input information whilst working 
from a range of locations, also the relocation of staff to one office in Flint. Staff welcomed these 
developments and many could see potential benefits, some citing agile working as one of the 
reasons they remained with the council. 



26

4.21 However, staff and managers also raised issues that the open plan office space as well as 
agile working fragmented the identity of the team, and described a loss of peer support and staff 
development opportunities. Opportunities for team learning and development were inconsistent 
across the service, but the working environment had impacted on this too. Managers also told us 
that they found it more difficult to maintain oversight of the work and the morale of the team.

4.22 The concept of a whole children’s services identity was not seen as having been extended to 
include the CIDs team. This service was managed through adult services and was now located 
away from children’s services. The intention to promote seamless transitions into adult services 
was understood and appreciated by staff. However, social workers in the CIDs team and the 
transition team hold casework responsibility for delivering all aspects of statutory children’s 
services, for both the disabled child and for any siblings in their family. The move from children’s 
services was therefore viewed by staff as potentially weakening multi-agency links and staff 
access to professional advice and support. This was a particular issue given the reduced child care 
management capacity within the team.

4.23 The council will need to evaluate the impact of these changes with staff and service users, 
to ensure that there is no diminution in the principle that children with a disability are children first, 
and that the timeliness and quality of service reflects best practice. 

4.24 Social worker recruitment and retention was highlighted as one of children’s services strengths, 
and most social work teams included a good mix of experience and qualified staff, many of whom 
had worked for the authority for a number of years. A small number of experienced agency staff 
had been employed, but these were mainly to meet additional service demands or staff absences. 
There was no proactive induction or training for agency workers to ensure that they understood the 
Flintshire policy and procedures. The feedback from staff generally was that Flintshire had a good 
reputation and was a positive place to work, staff valued that the authority promoted a good work 
life balance. 

Quotes from staff

“Agile working has improved relationships with other teams. I have missed the peer support 
from a smaller setting.”

“The team ethos has also been impacted by the agile working process which in my opinion has 
reduced the ongoing peer support necessary within this working environment.”

“There are good opportunities for professional development in Flintshire but while it’s easy to 
move into the duty team – it’s not so easy to move out into another team?

Quote from agency worker 

“There is very good admin support here and positive morale – I would like a permanent 
job here.” 



27

4.25 The majority of the staff interviewed told us that workloads were manageable but were 
becoming increasingly pressured, both in terms of volume and complexity. Staff believed that 
the demands of their caseloads were not always apparent or sufficiently recognised by senior 
managers, as child in need cases were recorded on the basis of one child. They felt supported to 
manage their work demands by their line managers and viewed managers across the service as 
equally approachable and responsive. Supervision of social workers was routinely undertaken by 
the senior practitioners. Most social workers reported that supervision was sufficiently frequent 
and of a good quality. The inspector’s review of the supervision records demonstrated that despite 
a comprehensive format for supervision, including training and development needs, the records 
mainly reflected task centred case discussion. 

4.26 There was some significant vulnerability identified at team manager and senior practitioner 
level across all of the teams. The supervision received by team managers and senior practitioners 
was less regular and often said to be vulnerable due to competing demands. There was also no 
proactive induction or training programme for staff moving into the management role. Senior 
practitioners had no opportunity to meet as a group with team managers or as peers, which limited 
opportunity for shared learning and support. 

4.27 Managers and staff expressed growing anxiety that the overall reduction of both management 
time and experience was increasingly impacting on the resilience and safety of the service. 
Inspectors were concerned that senior officers should evaluate the management needs of the 
service, and ensure that current vacancies were not impacting on the quality of services received 
by children and families.

Quotes from staff survey 

“The current senior practitioner post is on hold; this is having an adverse effect upon the team.”

“Loss of experienced management is unsettling the working environment and morale.”

“Team meetings are rushed with no space for reflecting on practice and learning from 
case work.”



28

Appendix
Information about the inspection

The inspection of the local authority was carried out under chapter 6 of Health and Social Care 
(Community Health Standards) Act 2003.

Methodology

Fieldwork for this inspection was undertaken during the weeks commencing 25 May and 
1 June 2015.

Most inspection evidence was gathered by looking at individual children and young people’s 
experiences. This was done through a combination of case tracking and case-file reviews.

Additional evidence was collected from a review of documentation including a staff survey, 
supervision records and complaint documents. 

Also, a range of individual interviews and focus groups with senior and operational managers, 
elected members, partner agencies, senior practitioners, social workers and support staff.

We reviewed/tracked 50 case files. This included 15 interviews with staff/other professionals, 
six interviews with families and/or direct observations of practice.

The inspection team

The inspection team consisted of four inspectors employed by CSSIW inspectors.

Lead inspector: Katy Young 

Team inspectors: Pam Clutton, Rob Gifford, Bobbie Jones



CSSIW Inspection Action Plan Update 
(Children’s Services)
Flintshire County Council

Print Date: 05-Oct-2015



PROGRESS RAG KEY:The Action Plan sets out: 
 the Recommendations as described by CSSIW;
 the Outcome that will be achieved in response to the Recommendation;
 the Actions that are being taken in order to achieve the Outcome.  

Progress towards the achievement of the Outcome for each Recommendation is measured as a 
Progress RAG.

Green = All Actions 
are on track to meet 
the Recommendation 
Outcome

Amber  = Some delays 
but not expected to 
impact seriously on 
Recommendation 
Outcome

Red = Serious delays 
or expectation that 
Recommendation 
Outcome will not be 
achieved

Audit No/Title: EXT1501-00 CSSIW Inspection of Children's Services

Recommendation No/Title: FN01 The council should progress its commitment to develop an early intervention framework that will deliver integrated services and 
provide early support to children, young people and families.

Outcome: Early intervention services provide support to Fieldwork Services, and are effective in supporting children and families, by December 2015.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN01-01 Restructure to ensure early intervention services 
dovetail seamlessly with core services Vicky Allen - [SS] 

Safeguarding Services In Progress

Team Around the Family have moved under the Social 
Services line management structure and are now located in 
Flint as part of Children’s Services.

31-12-2015 87

 FN01-02 Early intervention framework agreed and 
endorsed by council  Neil Ayling Not started 31-12-2015 87

Recommendation No/Title: FN02 The council should establish effective systems to ensure that thresholds for assessments are consistent across the service and 
understood by staff and partners.

Outcome: There is an effective and timely referral process in place with thresholds which are understood and supported by partners and effectively screen the 
needs of vulnerable families, by December 2015.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN02-01 Review of thresholds for referral and 
intervention to be completed in connection with the 
development of the Single Assessment.
 

Vicky Allen - [SS] 
Safeguarding Services In Progress

Facilitated work has commenced on developing the Single 
Assessment toolkit. 31-12-2015 87

 FN02-02 Thresholds to be communicated with and agreed 
by partners and staff 

Vicky Allen - [SS] 
Safeguarding Services Not started Will be linked in with work on the Single Assessment toolkit. 31-12-2015 56

 FN02-03 Threshold policy to be agreed by the council 
following full consultation Neil Ayling Not started 31-12-2015 87



Recommendation No/Title: FN03 Multi-agency arrangements should be established to review repeat referrals and quality assure
decision making.

Outcome: Decisions made on referrals are quality assured from a multi-agency perspective and are subject to effective scrutiny and challenge, as part of corporate 
policy, by February 2016.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN03-01 Review repeat referrals and Quality assure 
through the Wrexham and Flintshire  Safeguarding 
Children Delivery Group

Craig Macleod - [SS] 
Development and 
Resources

In Progress

An initial piece of work has been undertaken to review a 
small sample of repeat referrals to the Duty and 
Assessment Team.  A more comprehensive review will 
commence in November.

31-12-2015 87

 FN03-02 Report to Social and health overview and 
scrutiny committee regarding the review on a periodic 
basis 

Vicky Allen - [SS] 
Safeguarding Services Not started 01-02-2016 119

Recommendation No/Title: FN04 The consistency in quality and the timeliness of assessments and plans must be improved.

Outcome: The revised structure for Children’s Services will support the implementation of the Single Assessment, which will provide a proportionate, effective and 
timely assessment of needs, by March 2016.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN04-01 Restructure of children’s services agreed and 
implemented to address any loss of cohesion in service Vicky Allen - [SS] 

Safeguarding Services In Progress

Initial meetings have taken place with Team Managers and 
Senior Practitioners on potential models for a new structure 
for Children’s Services.  A staff engagement event took 
place on 6th October to gather feedback and give the 
opportunity for staff to have an initial input into the 
structural proposals.

29-02-2016 147

 FN04-02 Implementation of Single Assessment

Proposed timescale:
Oct – Dec 15  Develop and pilot
Jan – March 16  Review pilot, build assessment on PARIS 
and launch. 

Vicky Allen - [SS] 
Safeguarding Services In Progress

Facilitated work has commenced on developing the Single 
Assessment toolkit. 31-03-2016 178

 FN04-03 Independent quality assurance review of the 
quality and  consistency of assessments Vicky Allen - [SS] 

Safeguarding Services In Progress

Outline framework for quality assurance has been 
consulted on and will be endorsed at the next Performance 
& Quality Group (November 2015).  The agenda will include 
a detailed discussion on quality and consistency of 
assessments.

30-11-2015 56

 FN04-04 Report of the above 3 actions to be approved by 
the MSSB as part of the overall action plan Neil Ayling Not started 31-03-2016 178



 FN04-05 Formal review of the implementation of the 
Single Assessment (structure and design of assessments) 
to be reviewed by external facilitator and through the 
Children’s services Performance Management Group  

Craig Macleod - [SS] 
Development and 
Resources

Not started 31-03-2016 178

Recommendation No/Title: FN05 Children’s services’ approach to risk assessment and risk management should be more effectively
shared and understood by partner agencies.

Outcome: Risk assessment and management are effectively embedded in the Single Assessment process and subject to multi-agency quality assurance, by December 
2015.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN05-01 Risk assessment and risk management 
approaches reviewed and incorporated into Single 
Assessment framework (to be discussed with all partner 
agencies)

Vicky Allen - [SS] 
Safeguarding Services In Progress Facilitated work has commenced on developing the Single 

Assessment toolkit. 30-11-2015 56

 FN05-02 Thematic audit of  risk assessment approaches 
undertaken  through the Regional Safeguarding Board 
structure 

Neil Ayling Not started 31-12-2015 87

Recommendation No/Title: FN06 The council should progress its intention to review children’s services structure and ensure arrangements are in place to support 
the appropriate engagement of staff, partners and service users.

Outcome: All stakeholders support and have confidence in revised structure, by December 2015.

Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN06-01 Take forward full consultation with staff, 
partners and users concerning proposed new structure Vicky Allen - [SS] 

Safeguarding Services In Progress

Initial meetings have taken place with Team Managers and 
Senior Practitioners on potential models for a new structure 
for Children’s Services.  A staff engagement event took 
place on 6th October to gather feedback and give the 
opportunity for staff to have an initial input into the 
structural proposals.

31-10-2015 26

 FN06-02 Approve and implement new structure for 
children’s services with support of staff, partners and users 

Neil Ayling, Vicky Allen by December 2015 

Neil Ayling Not started 31-12-2015 87

Recommendation No/Title: FN07 The council should ensure that managerial leadership is sufficiently aligned to the professional
experience needed to manage the complexity of discrete areas of operational delivery.

Outcome: Senior Managers are effectively trained and supported, and fully involved in service developments as appropriate, by November 2015.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations



Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

FN07-02 Appraisal and management support of key 
managers to include addressing any areas of improvement. Neil Ayling In Progress To be incorporated into existing appraisal process. 30-11-2015 56

FN07-03 Ensure Children’s Services joint service 
development meeting arrangements include appropriate 
managers from CID/ Transition service

Neil Ayling In Progress Senior Practitioner (CIDS) is a member of Children’s Services 
Senior Practitioners’ Forum. 31-10-2015 5

Completed Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Days

 FN07-01 Senior Managers to access bespoke training 
programme for Heads of Service operational roles Neil Ayling Completed

Senior Managers accessed and are now undertaking the 
SSIA Leadership Programme which incorporates mentoring 
opportunities.

21-09-2015 N/A

Recommendation No/Title: FN08 Strong political and corporate support for children’s services must continue to ensure the service improvements needed are 
prioritised and the pace of improvement sustained.

Outcome: Services are effective and responsive, and benefit from effective governance, leadership and oversight, by December 2015.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN08-02 New Service Restructure to address any 
remaining areas of service needing investment Neil Ayling In Progress

Initial meetings have taken place with Team Managers and 
Senior Practitioners on potential models for a new structure 
for Children’s Services.  A staff engagement event took 
place on 6th October to gather feedback and give the 
opportunity for staff to have an initial input into the 
structural proposals.

31-12-2015 87

 FN08-03 Regular formal SSMTs and meetings with Cabinet 
Member. Neil Ayling Ongoing

Cabinet Member is part of monthly SSMT meetings, is an 
active member of the Children’s Services Forum, and 
attended engagement event on new structure proposals.  

31-10-2015 26

Completed Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Days

 FN08-01 Modernising Social Services Board to provide 
continued corporate and political support and scrutiny to 
children services

Neil Ayling
Ongoing

Action Plan and governance arrangements presented to 
Modernising Social Services Board on 5th October. 5-10-2015 N/A

Recommendation No/Title: FN09 The children’s forum should continue to focus on ensuring that ambitious outcomes for looked after children and young people 
are achieved, and support improved mechanisms to gain the views of service users.

Outcome: Effective governance and strong corporate parenting ensures that children’s voices are heard and that good outcomes for children are enhanced, by March 



2016.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN09-01 Work Programme of Children’s Services Forum 
reviewed to refocus on outcomes for children and young 
people

Vicky Allen - [SS] 
Safeguarding Services Not started Forward Work Programme to be considered at next 

meeting of the Children’s Services Forum. 30-11-2015 56

 FN09-02 Views of children and young people encouraged 
through new and refreshed engagement groups for older 
and younger children linked to the forum

Peter Robson - [SS] 
Development and 
Resources

In Progress
The Children’s Participation Officer is leading on new 
approaches and will report progress at the Children’s 
Services Forum.

31-10-2015 26

 FN09-03 Implementation of the National Outcomes 
Framework

Craig Macleod - [SS] 
Development and 
Resources

Not started 31-03-2016 178

Recommendation No/Title: FN10 The workforce strategy should include leadership and development programmes to build resilience within the operational 
management team.

Outcome: Senior staff are effective in their roles, to ensure effective management at present and in the future, by January 2016.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN10-01 Workforce  Strategy to be developed for Senior 
and Service Managers taking into account strengths and 
weaknesses , building on existing appraisals

Neil Ayling In Progress Development of Strategy is in progress to encompass the 
wider management team. 31-12-2015 56

 FN10-03 Development of middle management 
development programme that commences at Senior 
Practitioner – linked to succession planning framework

Vicky Allen - [SS] 
Safeguarding Services Not started 31-01-2016 118

Completed Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Days

 FN10-02 Senior Managers given access to SSIA Head of 
Service Training and /or mentoring opportunities. Neil Ayling

Completed Senior Managers accessed and are now undertaking the 
SSIA Leadership Programme which incorporates mentoring 
opportunities.

01-10-2015 N/A

Recommendation No/Title: FN11 The draft Quality Assurance Framework must be systematically implemented across the service. Performance management and 
quality assurance arrangements, including scrutiny of service demand and routine auditing of the quality of practice, should be embedded across the service.

Outcome: Quality assurance arrangements are embedded across the service with effective governance, by February 2016.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days



 FN11-01 The Quality Assurance Framework implemented 
in full Neil Ayling In Progress

The outline framework has been consulted on and will be 
endorsed at the next Performance & Quality Group 
(November 2015).  The document will be a live document to 
respond and adapt to emerging quality initiatives and 
priorities.

30-11-2015 56

 FN11-02 Report on the Quality Assurance Framework to 
be incorporated into the Quarterly Performance reports 
for scrutiny and the Modernising Social Services Board

Neil Ayling Not started 29-02-2016 147

Recommendation No/Title: FN12 The quality of supervision should be reviewed to ensure there is sufficient resource and capacity available to manage it effectively.

Outcome: Regular quality assurance of supervision is implemented to ensure that practitioners are effectively supervised and supported through the service 
restructure and are able to continue to respond to the needs of children and families, by December 2015.
Scheduled Audit Recommendations

Corrective Action Responsible Officer Status Progress Update Due Date Due days

 FN12-01 Supervision reviewed through the Quality 
Assurance Framework Neil Ayling In Progress Draft supervision audit tool has been developed and will be 

reviewed by Performance & Quality Group in November. 30-11-2015 56

 FN12-02 Restructure implementation to ensure spans of 
supervision are sustainable and promote effective 
supervision

Neil Ayling In Progress Staff are able to contribute to restructure process through 
consultation and engagement events. 31-12-2015 87





SOCIAL & HEALTH CARE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting Thursday 5th November 2015

Report Subject Learning Disability Work Streams – 1) Change Options 
for Supported Living Service and 2) Alternative Delivery 
Models - Day Services Learning Disabilities. 

Cabinet Member Cabinet Member for Social Services

Report Author Senior Manager Integrated Services 

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The learning disability (LD) service, as part of its modernisation programme, has 
three significant ongoing work streams. These work streams share two main 
purposes. Firstly there is a need to ensure that current services are modern, 
sustainable and fit for the future and secondly to provide services which are of 
good quality at a lower cost.

Project 1 is the day and work services, e.g. the LD small businesses.
Project 2 is Glanrafon day centre.

Significant work has gone into the feasibility studies, these have now been 
completed and we are moving forward to the business planning phase.  

The business planning stage is supported by Social Firms Wales and Capita, this 
planning phase will continue to the end of November/December to produce two 
key deliverables for review and approval:

 A Specification document which will define the care service required 
by the Council from the 6 work opportunities businesses; e.g. what 
does the council want to commission from the Social Enterprise.

 A Business Plan document – outlining how the new Social Enterprise 
will deliver this service to the Council, while maintaining and 
developing semi commercially viable and sustainable business.

Project 3 is the Supported Living Change Options work stream, a review of all 55 
individuals and 22 houses has taken place, involving an expert panel, which has 
reviewed each individual case against a dependency matrix. This has helped us 
identify 7 houses for re-provision from the independent sector. There have been a 



number of meetings held with service users and families, and there has been 
significant issues to work through regarding the decision to outsource the 7 
houses. A number of consultation sessions have been held and in line with good 
consultation procedures, an appeals panel has been arranged and individuals are 
appealing the decisions.

Following the outcome of the appeal process, we will progress to the 
procurement/tendering phase.

A key risk for all three projects are the timescales for completion, aligned to the 
budget savings.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Members agree that good progress is being made on all three work 
streams and endorse the approach being taken including in relation to the 
sensitivity of the work.

2 Members note that the due to the complex nature of the services and the  
client group being consulted with, that there is a need to share scrutiny in 
the change process, which may have an impact on timescales for 
completion. 

REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE LEARNING DISABILITY WORK STREAMS

1.01  Project 1 Small Business 

We are in the process of business planning and drafting the service 
specification. 

1.02 Business Planning Includes detailing the following.

Introduction 
2.1 Vision/ Mission
2.2 Aims and Objectives

The Company
3.1 Legal Structure
3.2 Organisational Structure
3.3 Board of Directors/staff

Operations
4.1 Policies and Procedures
4.2 Monitoring and Evaluation
4.3 Quality

Products
5.1 Portfolio of Products or Services



5.2 Future Products or Services

       Marketing
6.1 Trends in the market
6.2 Competitors
6.3 Market growth

        Financials
7.1 Pricing Strategy
7.2 Financial Investment / Fundraising Strategy
7.3 Sales Forecast/Cash Flow
7.5 Profit and Loss
7.6 Balance Sheet/Financial Assumptions

Risk Management 
8.1Risk Strategy
8.2Fall Back Plan/Crisis Management
8.3Cash Crisis Management & Long-term lines of credit
8.4Liabilities & Insurance Policies

This is a significant area of work. In particular it will be vital to the 
successful of the AMD going forward that we have the right financial 
information now and support with realistic forecasting. 

1.03 The Service Specification document will include -

The key objective of the service is to support adults with a learning 
disability to have meaningful and fulfilling work placements that improve 
their quality of life and promote independence whilst providing respite for 
informal carers. The service will work within a multi-disciplinary approach 
(to include social health and voluntary sector). The specific service for 
each Service User must be delivered in accordance with the requirements 
of the assessment and Care Plan. 

It is vital that we get this right. We clearly cannot afford for the Social 
Enterprise to fail, as this would lead to service users and carers being 
without day time support, and could ultimately lead to more expensive care 
and support packages. 

1.04 Project 2 Glanrafon.

The Public Interest Notice (PIN) notice was place on the Sell2Wales web 
site. We have had reasonable interest with 7 responses. 

All prospective partners have been invited in for further discussions in 
early November.

We will ensure that families and carers are included in discussions, and 
help to select, suitable partners.

This report confirms that a meeting with Flint mobilisation group has also 
been set to discuss potential locations and opportunities under the SHARP 
programme.



1.05 Project 3 Change Options
 
There is a significant challenge in relation to the change options work 
stream.

Individuals and their families are indicating that they wish to remain within 
house services and there a number of appeals and complains being 
received from family members. 

AMs, MPs and other interested parties have written in to the portfolio to 
support families, asking questions and voicing concern on the proposals.  
This is being managed via our complaints receiving officer, as a result of 
the move on and indeed the other projects the directorate expects to 
report an increase the number of complaints in quarter 3 portfolio.

We have held a provider event to test the market regarding the appetite to 
come and work in Flintshire.  The event was well attended and early 
indications are that we have some interested parties/Independent sector 
providers, who are interested in working in Flintshire to deliver supported 
living services.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01

2.02

2.03

2.04

There are staffing implications for all three projects. In most cases TUPE 
will apply. Work is ongoing to identify the staff who will transfer into the 
small businesses and which staff will move as part of the supported living 
service. 

The feasibility studies for the ADM project 1 small businesses, assumes a 
level of saving of 285k over a phased period This is based on high level 
assumptions that there will be costs reductions and increased income. The 
detail is being worked through as part of the business planning stage. 

More detailed work is ongoing for project 2 Glanrafon.

The Change Option for Supported Living work, Project 3 is anticipated to 
save 150k for 2016/2017. 
   

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 Social Services recognises the need to engage and consult lawfully with 
service users and families. 

3.02 This report confirms that there have been a number of detailed 
consultation, engagements and information sharing events, including 
separate consultation events for all 6 small business. 

3.03 A further separate consultation event for was held for Glanrafon. 



3.04 Separate consultation and engagement events were undertaken for the 7 
supported living houses.    

3.05 To help with the meaningful engagement of people with a learning 
disability we had the support of specialist independent colleagues, who 
advocate and represent service users and families.

3.06 All individuals have been given the opportunity to have independent 
advocacy support, and the North Wales Advice and Advocacy Association 
attended every consultation event. In terms of staff consultations and 
information events, this report confirms there have been a number of staff 
consultations which have included representative from human resources 
and trade unions. These consultations are ongoing.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 Driving forward the ADM business and financial planning and 
modelling/forecasting, is a risk, positive support from the wider Finance 
Team will help mitigate this risk.

4.02 Timescales and pace of progress towards the ADM and finding partners 
and potential site for the new premises is another risk. In mitigation there 
are a number of interested partners and meeting dates set to progress the 
work.

4.03 Review of service user needs and levels of support required at the small 
businesses and Glanrafon and the suitability of each placement. Work is in 
progress, on this assessment with some sensitivities from all involved.

4.04 To mitigate this risk as service we are seeking to manage the vacancies 
with the LD service in all areas in order that we can if necessary support 
those staff who wish to remain in house, and redeployed in to other areas , 
there is the added tension that service users are rightly seeking continuity 
of care arrangements.  

4.05 In relation to all the work streams TUPE, is high on the agenda and can 
present a risk in that whilst we are clear TUPE applies to all service areas, 
Independent Service providers have indicated they may be less interested 
in working with us if TUPE is involved.  

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 None

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 None

Contact Officer: Susie Lunt, Senior Manager Integrated Services
Telephone: 01352 701407
E-mail: Susie.lunt@flintshire.gov.uk



7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 None



SOCIAL & HEALTH CARE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting Thursday 5 November, 2015

Report Subject Forward Work Programme

Report Author Social & Health Care Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Overview & Scrutiny presents a unique opportunity for Members to determine the 
Forward Work programme of the Committee of which they are Members.  By 
reviewing and prioritising the Forward Work Programme Members are able to 
ensure it is Member-led and includes the right issues.  A copy of the Forward Work 
Programme is attached at Appendix 1 for Members’ consideration which has been 
updated following the last meeting.

The Committee is asked to consider, and amend where necessary, the Forward 
Work Programme for the Social & Health Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

RECOMMENDATION

1 That the Committee considers the draft Forward Work Programme and 
approve/amend as necessary.

2 That the Facilitator, in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair of the 
Committee be authorised to vary the Forward Work Programme between 
meetings, as the need arises. 



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

1.01 Items feed into a Committee’s Forward Work Programme from a number 
of sources.  Members can suggest topics for review by Overview & 
Scrutiny Committees, members of the public can suggest topics, items can 
be referred by the Cabinet for consultation purposes, or by County Council 
or Chief Officers.  Other possible items are identified from the Cabinet 
Work Programme and the Improvement Plan.

1.02 In identifying topics for future consideration, it is useful for a ‘test of 
significance’ to be applied.  This can be achieved by asking a range of 
questions as follows:

1. Will the review contribute to the Council’s priorities and/or objectives?
2. Is it an area of major change or risk?
3. Are there issues of concern in performance?
4. Is there new Government guidance of legislation?
5. Is it prompted by the work carried out by Regulators/Internal Audit?

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 None as a result of this report.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 Publication of this report constitutes consultation.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 None as a result of this report.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix 1 – Draft Forward Work Programme

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 None.

Contact Officer: Margaret Parry-Jones
Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator

Telephone: 01352 702427
E-mail: margaret.parry-jones@flintshire.gov.uk
 

mailto:margaret.parry-jones@flintshire.gov.uk


7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Improvement Plan: the document which sets out the annual priorities of 
the Council. It is a requirement of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2009 to set Improvement Objectives and publish an Improvement Plan.





SOCIAL & HEALTH CARE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME                                             APPENDIX 1

CURRENT FWP

Date of 
meeting Subject Purpose of Report Scrutiny Focus

Responsible / 
Contact 
Officer

Submission 
Deadline

Thursday 
17 Dec 2015
10.00 a.m.

Social Service Wellbeing 
Act update

Chief Officer 
Performance Report 
Q2 /Mid year 
Improvement Plan 
Monitoring 

Consultation on the 
Improvement Plan
2016-17

CSSIW Annual Report

To receive an update report 
on the act. 
 

To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation 
to performance monitoring 

To consult with members of 
the Committee on the draft 
improvement plan 2016-17

To receive a presentation 
from CSSIW on their findings

Information

Assurance

Options consultation 

Assurance

Christy Jones

Facilitator 

Performance 
Team Leader 

Craig Macleod

Thursday
21 Jan 2016
2.00 p.m.

Extra Care 

Adult Safeguarding

To receive an update on the 
development of Extra Care 
facilities in Flintshire. 

To update Members on Adult 
Safeguarding Performance 

Information

Assurance

Chief Officer
Social Services

Chief Officer
Social Services 



SOCIAL & HEALTH CARE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME                                             APPENDIX 1
Thursday
3 March 2016
10.00 a.m.

Q3  Improvement Plan 
Monitoring Update 

To enable Members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation 
to performance monitoring.

Assurance Facilitator

Thursday
14 April 2016
2.00 p.m.

Annual Council 
Reporting Framework

Consultation on the 
Improvement Plan 
2016-17

To consider the draft report 

To enable members to 
comments on the proposals 
within the draft plan. 

Assurance 

Options consultation 

Chief Officer
Social Services

Performance 
Team Leader 

Thursday
19 May 2016
2.00 p.m.

Comments, Compliments 
and Complaints 

To receive a report on the 
compliments, representations 
and complaints received by 
Social Services for the year 
April 2015 – March 

Assurance Chief Officer
Social Services

Thursday
23 June 2016
10.00 a.m.

Year End & Q 4 
performance reporting 

To enable members to fulfil 
their scrutiny role in relation 
to performance monitoring

Assurance Facilitator 

Thursday 
21 July 2016
2.00 p.m.



SOCIAL & HEALTH CARE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME                                             APPENDIX 1

Regular Item

Month Item Purpose of Report
Responsible / 

Contact 
Officer

January Safeguarding & Child Protection
To provide Members with statistical
 information in relation to Child  Protection  and Safeguarding

Chief Officer
Social Services

March Educational Attainment of 
Looked After Children

Education officers offered to share the annual educational attainment 
report which goes to Lifelong Learning OSC with this Committee 

Chief officer 
Education 

March Corporate Parenting  Report to Social & Health and Lifelong Learning Overview & Scrutiny Chief Officer
Social Services

Half-yearly Betsi Cadwaladr University 
Health Board Update 

To maintain 6 monthly meetings – partnership working
Facilitator 

May Comments, Compliments and 
Complaints 

To consider the Annual Report. Chief Officer 
Social Services

Adult Safeguarding 
To consider the annual statistical information

Chief Officer
Social Services

Items to be scheduled 

 Joint meeting with Lifelong Leaning Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 Outcome of Residential Care Review 




	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Children Services Inspection Report
	Appendix 1 - CSSIW Inspection of Children’s Services, September 2015
	Appendix 2 - CSSIW Inspection Action Plan Update, October 2015

	5 Learning Disability Work Streams - 1) Change Options for Supported Living Service and 2) Alternative Delivery Models - Day Services Learning Disabilities
	7 Forward Work Programme (Social & Health Care)
	Enc. 1 for Forward Work Programme (Social & Health Care)


